FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
12/13/2018 3:29 PM

SUPREME COURT NO. ____96599-4

Court of Appeals No. 77930-3-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

٧.

ROBERT LEE PRY, Appellant

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Marie J. Trombley, WSBA 41410 Counsel for Petitioner Pry PO Box 829 Graham, WA 98338 253-445-7920

IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE				
V.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTE				
	A.	This Court Should Accept Review Because The			
		Allegation Of Tailored Testimony Denied Mr. Pry H	lis		
		Constitutional Right To A Fair Trial	5		
	B.	The Prosecutor Committed Reversible Misconduc	t By		
		Appealing To The Passion And Prejudice Of The			
		Jury	9		
VI.	CON	CLUSION	14		

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Federal Cases

Estelle v. Williams, 425 U.S. 501, 96 S.Ct. 1691, 48 L.Ed.2d 126 (1976)
Portuondo v. Agard, 529 U.S. 61, 120 S.Ct. 1119, 146 L.Ed.2d 47 (2000)
Washington State Cases
In re Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d 696, 286 P.3d 673 (2012) 13
State v. Brown, 132 Wn.2d 529, 940 P.2d 546 (1997)
State v. Claflin, 38 Wn. App. 847, 690 P.2d 1186 (1984) 11
State v. Fuller, 169 Wn. App. 797, 282 P.3d 126 (2012) 12
State v. Hilton, 164 Wn.2d 81, 261 P.3d 683 (2011)
State v. Martin, 171 Wn.2d 521, 252 P.3d 872 (2011) 6, 7, 8, 9
State v. Pierce, 169 Wn. App. 533, 280 P.3d 1158 (2012) . 9, 10, 11
State v. Walker, 164 Wn. App. 724, 265 P.3d 191 (2011)
State v. Wallin, 166 Wn. App. 364, 269 P.3d 1072 (2012) 8, 9
Constitutional Provisions
U.S. Const. Amend. XIV 6
Wash. Const. art. I, § 22

Other Authorities

American Bar Association	Standards for Criminal Justice std. 3	-5.8
		13
RAP 13.4	1	. 5. 6

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Robert Lee Pry, appellant below, petitions this Court for the relief designated in Part II.

II. DECISION OF COURT OF APPEALS

Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b), Mr. Pry seeks review of the unpublished decision *State v. Pry,* No. 77930-3-I, in which the Court affirmed his convictions, holding the prosecutor's arguments did not amount to reversible prosecutorial misconduct. The opinion is attached as Appendix A.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Mr. Pry exercised his constitutional right to be present and testify on his own behalf. Were Mr. Pry's Washington

 State Constitution Article I § 22 rights violated when the prosecutor said in closing argument that because he said he had had time to think about what happened he had "crafted his statement" to the jury?
- B. Is it reversible misconduct for a prosecutor to appeal to the passion and sympathy of the jury by urging the jury to envision what might have happened, to "hope" the victim was not conscious, and to "celebrate" the victim?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Robert "Archie" Hood was robbed, beaten, and killed some time between December 16 and December 19, 2015. 25RP 1437-38, 27RP 1676,1679¹. Kitsap County prosecutors charged Mr. Pry² with murder in the first degree, as a principal or an accomplice, kidnapping in the first degree, and robbery in the first degree, each with allegations of aggravating circumstances; identity theft in the second degree, possession of stolen property in the second degree, and tampering with a witness. CP 2135-2141. The matter proceeded to a consolidated 44-day trial with approximately 100 witnesses and three co-defendants. 27RP 1073.

In the opening statement of trial, the prosecutor said the following:

When Candy Gratton said goodbye to Robert Hood on December 16, 2015, neither of them knew that two weeks later his body would be decomposing in a barrel. Robert Hood was 89-years-old when Robert Pry and Joshua Rodgers Jones decided to go to his house and rob him. He probably never envisioned that when he opened the door that night that he would be beaten so severely that he would be left paralyzed, that he would then be hog-tied and left to

¹ Because of the extraordinarily large record, a chart has been added as Appendix B which provides the dates referring to each of the 50 volumes of the report of proceedings.

² Prosecutors also charged two others with Mr. Hood's homicide. One defendant was severed from Mr. Pry's trial and one of the other codefendants was found not guilty. See *Op.* at 4, 24.

die on his bathroom floor, only to be transferred to the trunk of a vehicle, driven around two counties and eventually placed into a barrel where law enforcement discovered him on December 30, 2015. He never envisioned it, but that's exactly what happened to Robert Hood.

25RP 1393.

The prosecutor began closing arguments as follows:

Today would have been Robert Hood's 90th birthday. Today should have been a day of celebration. It should have been a day when Candy and Doug and his friends celebrate his years, maybe a day that his out of town family fly up and see him

Instead, we are here talking about the violence that was done to his body. The violence that was done to his body after he was killed. We are here talking about the night of terror that was issued upon him on December 17th. When Joshua Rodgers Jones and Robert Pry go to his house, knock on the door and say, " It's God."

Now, Robert Hood knew Rodgers Jones, likely trusted Rodgers Jones. There was no sign of a forced entry. I don't know if the door was unlocked or if he let them in. I don't know what happened in those first moments, whether or not they started in on him right away or whether or not they sat and chatted with him first. Whether Rodgers Jones introduced Archie to Robert Pry. Or whether they started torturing him right away. Whether they started shouting at him and hitting him, demanding his account numbers, his PIN numbers, his cash, his firearms. I can't answer those questions for you....

47RP 5002. (emphasis added).

And I don't have to answer those questions for you. We do know from Dr. Lacsina, the medical examiner, that he was beaten. We know that he was beaten severely around the head. We saw those horrible pictures. We know that he had a broken nose, that he had swollen, blackened eyes. We know that he had defensive wounds on his hands.

Extensive bleeding on the brain under his subarachnoid, on his skull, he had bleeding.

We can only hope that by the time he was hit so hard that he was paralyzed that he was rendered unconscious. We can only hope that when he was dragged into the bathroom and hogtied and left to die on the bathroom floor, that he was unconscious.

47RP 5003. (emphasis added).

Celebrate Mr. Hood today by -taking the time --- l ask that you...

47RP 5067. (emphasis added). The court sustained the defense objection to the "celebrate" statement. Id.

During cross-examination the prosecutor asked Mr. Pry:

Q. Okay. So, I guess I'm wondering how you can be so sure that all of this was happening on the 15th, 16th, 17th. How are you so certain of these dates?

Mr. Pry answered:

A. Well, my life is on the line and I've had plenty of time to think about everything that's happened thoroughly.

The prosecutor clarified:

- Q. So looking back now and piece together the events that were - - how things started; is that what you mean?"
- A. Yes, how things started, when it started. What's occurred.

46RP 4828.

During closing argument, defense counsel objected when the prosecutor said:

So, these are Robert Pry's words to you when he took the stand. He told you that he would not divulge information freely. He is not a credible witness in this case. These are his words. "My life is on the line, and I've had plenty of time to think about what happened." He is able to craft his statement to you in court.

47RP 5043. (emphasis added). The court denied a defense motion for a mistrial. 47RP 5043, 5047. The jury found Mr. Pry guilty on all counts and the aggravating circumstances as charged. CP 2774-2777. Mr. Pry filed a timely appeal. CP 3021-3033.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. This Court Should Accept Review Because The Allegation Of Tailored Testimony Denied Mr. Pry His Constitutional Right To A Fair Trial.

The considerations which govern the decision to grant review are set forth in RAP 13.4(b). A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only (1) If the decision by the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision by the Supreme Court; or (2) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of another division of the Court of Appeals; or (3) if a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) if the petition

involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Petitioner believes this Court should accept review because the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with a decision by this Court and another division of the Court of Appeals and is a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington and of the United States is involved. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (3).

The right to a fair trial is a basic federal and state constitutional liberty. U.S. Const. Amend. XIV; art. I, § 22. *Estelle v. Williams*, 425 U.S. 501, 503, 96 S.Ct. 1691, 48 L.Ed.2d 126 (1976). Art. I, § 22 explicitly guarantees a criminal defendant the right to exercise his fair trial rights, which include the right to view the evidence against him, to be present at trial, to testify, to defend, and to confront accusers. Art. I, § 22.

Three significant Washington cases address the question of whether a prosecutor's allegation a defendant has tailored his testimony violates Art. I, § 22 rights.

In State v. Martin, 171 Wn.2d 521, 252 P.3d 872 (2011), the defendant explicitly testified in direct examination that testimony of other witnesses informed his own testimony as to particular time

frames surrounding the crime. *Id.* at 524, 536. Because the defendant had opened the door to inquiry about tailoring, this Court concluded the prosecutor did not violate Art. I, § 22 by posing questions *during cross examination* that were designed to elicit answers indicating whether Martin tailored his testimony.

This Court's decision in *Martin* rested on Justice Ginsburg's dissent in *Portuondo v. Agard,* 529 U.S. 61, 120 S.Ct. 1119, 146 L.Ed.2d 47 (2000). Justice Ginsburg wrote that if a prosecutor were to make an *accusation of tailoring during closing argument*, a jury is, at that point, unable to "measure a defendant's credibility by evaluating the defendant's response to the accusation, for the broadside is fired after the defense has submitted its case." *Portuondo*, 529 U.S. at 78.

This Court said: "We believe that Justice Ginsburg's view, that suggestions of tailoring are appropriate during cross-examination, is compatible with the protections provided by Article I, § 22. *It is during cross-examination, not closing argument*, when the jury has the opportunity to determine whether the defendant is exhibiting untrustworthiness." *Martin* 171 Wn.2d at 535-36.

Here, on cross-examination in response to a question about how he could be sure of when the events took place, Mr. Pry simply said his life was on the line and he had had time to think it through thoroughly. Unlike Martin, Mr. Pry's statement did not suggest he had changed his version of facts or dates to conform to or contradict testimony of other witnesses. The allegation that he had tailored his testimony, offered in *closing argument*, was not supported by the record as required in *Martin*.

The *Hilton* Court held that "an inquiry that suggests that testimony was 'tailored' is proper *to explain inconsistencies and contradictions between the defendant's testimony and earlier statements to police." <i>State v. Wallin,* 166 Wn. App. 364, 365, 269 P.3d 1072 (2012). There, the inquiry was appropriate because the defendant opened the door when he changed his alibi on retrial. *Id.*

The Court held a *generic closing argument*, accusing the defendant of tailoring, which is unrelated to the defendant's trial testimony is improper. *State v. Hilton,* 164 Wn.2d 81, 93, 261 P.3d 683 (2011).

In *Wallin*, Division Three noted that the defendant did *not* open the door to cross-examination on tailoring because he did not testify that he based any of his answers on what he learned from the evidence, nor was that a fair inference. *Wallin* 166 Wn. App. at 372. The Court found that a generic suggestion that the defendant

tailored his testimony to fit what he heard at trial, rather than a specific showing of tailoring, violated his right to present at trial and testify. *Id.*

The Court of Appeals decision in this case does not comport with case law. *Op.* at 14. The issue of tailored testimony was not explored in cross examination. Mr. Pry's statement that he had had time to think about everything thoroughly was not an admission that he had heard other testimony and conformed his accordingly. The prosecutor clarified that Mr. Pry meant he could look back and see how everything had started. Under *Martin, Hilton,* and *Wallin,* Mr. Pry's statement did not open the door to the state's closing argument that he had "crafted" his story in court.

B. The Prosecutor Committed Reversible Misconduct By Appealing To The Passion And Prejudice Of The Jury.

A prosecutor commits reversible misconduct when he urges the jury to decide a case based on evidence outside of the record and appeals to passion and prejudice. *State v. Pierce*, 169 Wn. App. 533, 553, 280 P.3d 1158 (2012). Under Washington case law, arguments that have an "inflammatory effect" on the jury are generally not curable by a jury instruction. *Id.* at 763.

Here, there are four examples of the prosecutor appealing to passion and prejudice and arguing facts outside the evidence: (1) by arguing that Mr. Hood probably never envisioned the violence he was to suffer; (2) telling the jury "we can only hope" he was unconscious at certain points; (3) a fabricated description of the first moments when Mr. Hood encountered his attacker(s); and (4) by telling the jury it was Mr. Hood's birthday and urging them to "celebrate" him as they went into deliberations.

In *Pierce*, the Court held the prosecutor improperly invited the jury to imagine themselves in the victims' shoes when he said "never in their wildest dreams Or in their wildest nightmare" would the victims have expected to be murdered on the day of the crime. *Pierce*, 169 Wn. App. at 555-56. The Court held "whether the [victims] never expected the crime to occur was not relevant to [defendant's] guilt." *Id.* at 555.

The Court here distinguished from *Pierce*, finding the prosecutor's language more tempered because she qualified her statement with the word "probably". *Op.* at 18. The *Pierce* case represents the outer bounds of egregious language. However, as in *Pierce*, the fact remains that whether Mr. Hood probably never

envisioned the crime would occur, had no relevance to a defendant's guilt.

As in *Pierce*, the suggestion invites the jury to imagine Mr.

Hood's internal thought process and to see themselves in Mr.

Hood's position. The prosecutor here further invited the jury to step outside of the facts and fabricated a description of the encounter between Mr. Hood and his attackers.

I don't know what happened in those first moments, whether or not they started in on him right away or whether or not they sat and chatted with him first. Whether Rodgers Jones introduced Archie to Robert Pry. Or whether they started torturing him right away. Whether they started shouting at him and hitting him, demanding his account numbers, his PIN numbers, his cash, his firearms. I can't answer those questions for you.

47RP 5002.

A prosecutor is not barred from referring to the heinous nature of a crime. *State v. Claflin,* 38 Wn. App. 847, 849-50, 690 P.2d 1186 (1984). However, a tale of how the encounter might have happened encourages the jury to consider facts not in evidence. Here, there was no evidence anyone shouted at him, or demanded his account numbers, or his PIN numbers, or his cash or his firearms.

Couching the fabricated description of events with statements of "I don't know" and "I can't answer those questions" is no less toxic than leaving the disclaimers out of the description.

The argument here was designed to appeal to the jury's passions, fears, and sympathy and went outside the evidence presented at trial.

Lastly, the prosecutor began by telling the jury that it was Mr. Hood's birthday that day. She then imagined how he might have celebrated it with friends and family. The argument closed with the prosecutor encouraging the jury to "celebrate" Mr. Hood by carefully considering the evidence.

This can only be understood to be inviting the jury to be part of the family and friends' celebration by returning with a gift of guilty verdicts. This was a direct appeal to the emotions and sympathies of the jury. The state committed misconduct by asking the jury to convict based on emotions instead of the evidence. *State v. Fuller*, 169 Wn. App. 797, 821, 282 P.3d 126 (2012). The prosecutor's statements in opening and closing argument invited the jury to step into the shoes of Mr. Hood and decide the case based on sympathy for him.

Because Mr. Pry objected only to the "celebrate" argument by the prosecutor, the inquiry for the remaining 3 remarks is whether the misconduct was so flagrant and ill-intentioned that it caused an enduring and resulting prejudice, which could not have been neutralized by a curative jury instruction. *State v. Brown,* 132 Wn.2d 529, 564-65, 940 P.2d 546 (1997).

There comes a time when the cumulative effect of repetitive prejudicial error is so flagrant that no instruction or series of instructions can erase it and cure the error. *State v. Walker,* 164 Wn. App. 724, 737, 265 P.3d 191 (2011) (internal citation omitted). Prosecutorial misconduct during argument can be particularly prejudicial because of the risk that the jury will lend special weight to it, "not only because of the prestige associated with the prosecutor's office, but also because of the fact-finding facilities presumably available to the office.³" *In re Glasmann,* 175 Wn.2d 696,706, 286 P.3d 673 (2012).

The prosecutor committed misconduct at Mr. Pry's trial by repeatedly appealing to the jury's passion and prejudice during

³ Commentary to the *American Bar Association Standards for Criminal Justice* std. 3-5.8.

argument. Mr. Pry's convictions should be reversed, and he should be afforded a new trial. *In re Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d at 714.

VI. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing facts and authorities, Mr. Pry respectfully asks this Court to accept his petition for review.