FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/17/2018 4:13 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 96599-4

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

v.

ARNOLD MAFNAS CRUZ,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KITSAP COUNTY

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

LILA J. SILVERSTEIN Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711 lila@washapp.org wapofficemail@washapp.org

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Robert Pry and Joshua Rodgers Jones beat and robbed 89-year-old Archie Hood. Mr. Hood eventually died of his injuries. RP (5/9/16) 1393; RP (7/6/16) 5280-83. Arnold Cruz had nothing to do with these events.

Mr. Pry subsequently enlisted the help of others to attempt to break into Mr. Hood's bank accounts. RP (5/18/16) 2420; RP (6/9/16) 4036. Arnold Cruz had nothing to do with it.

When Mr. Pry became concerned about the possibility of law enforcement discovering Mr. Hood's remains, he sought assistance in disposing of the evidence. Detectives

¹ 186 Wn.2d 85, 93, 375 P.3d 664 (2016).

suspected that Mr. Pry asked Mr. Cruz, whom he viewed as an "uncle," for help. RP (5/23/16) 2756-58. After police discovered Mr. Hood's remains, Cruz was one of many people whose names and faces were released to the press as being sought in connection with the crimes. CP 733-46.

Mr. Cruz immediately turned himself in. RP (3/15/16)490; RP (5/10/16) 1552-53. The State charged Mr. Cruz with the felony of first-degree rendering criminal assistance, and the misdemeanor of concealing a deceased body. CP 578-80. Mr. Cruz was tried with Mr. Pry, who was convicted of murder and other crimes, and Robert Davis, who was convicted of identity theft. RP (7/6/16) 5280-83.

Mr. Cruz was convicted of rendering and concealment as charged. RP (7/6/16) 5284. The State sought an exceptional sentence, which the court imposed over Mr. Cruz's objection.

Mr. Cruz appealed and argued the information was constitutionally deficient and the exceptional sentence was improper. The Court of Appeals agreed with the first argument so did not reach the second. Because the State

omitted three of the four essential elements of the crime from the information, the court reversed the rendering conviction and remanded for dismissal of the charge without prejudice to the State's ability to refile. Slip Op. at 34-43.² Kitsap County prosecutors petitioned for this Court's review.

D. ARGUMENT

Review is unwarranted. The Court of Appeals followed settled law in reversing where the information omitted three essential elements.

1. <u>An information is constitutionally deficient if</u> <u>it fails to set forth every element of the crime</u> <u>charged</u>.

Article I, section 22 of our state constitution³ and the

Sixth Amendment to the federal constitution⁴ require the

State to provide an accused person with notice of the offense

charged. State v. Pelkey, 109 Wn.2d 484, 487, 745 P.2d 854

(1987). An offense is not properly charged unless the

 $^{^{\}rm 2}$ The appeal was consolidated with the appeals of Pry and Davis.

 $^{^3}$ "In criminal prosecutions the accused shall have the right ... to demand the nature and cause of the accusation against him" Const. art. I, § 22.

⁴ "In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall ... be informed of the nature and cause of the accusation" U.S. Const. amend VI.

information sets forth every essential element of the crime, both statutory and nonstatutory. *State v. Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d 93, 97, 812 P.2d 86 (1991). The charging document must contain: (1) the elements of the crime charged, and (2) a description of the specific conduct of the defendant which allegedly constituted that crime. *Auburn v. Brooke*, 119 Wn.2d 623, 630, 836 P.2d 212 (1992). "This doctrine is elementary and of universal application, and is founded on the plainest principle of justice." *Pelkey*, 109 Wn.2d at 488 (quoting *State v. Ackles*, 8 Wash. 462, 464-65, 36 P. 597 (1894)).

Where, as here, the issue is raised for the first time on appeal, the standard of review set forth in *Kjorsvik* applies. This Court asks: (1) do the necessary facts appear in any form, or by fair construction can they be found, in the charging document; and, if so, (2) can the defendant show that he or she was nonetheless actually prejudiced by the inartful language which caused a lack of notice? *Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d at 105-06. If the answer to the first question is "no," reversal is required without reaching the second

question. *State v. McCarty*, 140 Wn.2d 420, 425-28, 998 P.2d 296 (2000).

> 2. <u>Intent to hinder, knowledge of another's</u> crime, and concealing evidence are each elements of the crime that were omitted from the information.

The State acknowledges the above requirements, but avers it correctly alleged the elements of rendering criminal

assistance. Petition at 5. The Court of Appeals correctly

concluded to the contrary. Slip Op. at 34. In holding the

information was deficient, the court applied the statute and

this Court's case law. Slip Op. at 37-43.

The statute at issue provides, in relevant part:

As used in RCW 9A.76.070, 9A.76.080, and 9A.76.090, a person "renders criminal assistance" if, **with intent** to prevent, hinder, or delay the apprehension or prosecution of another person who he or she **knows** has committed a crime or juvenile offense or is being sought by law enforcement officials for the commission of a crime or juvenile offense or has escaped from a detention facility, he or she:

- (1) Harbors or conceals such person; or
- (2) Warns such person of impending discovery or apprehension; or

- (3) Provides such person with money, transportation, disguise, or other means of avoiding discovery or apprehension; or
- (4) Prevents or obstructs, by use of force, deception, or threat, anyone from performing an act that might aid in the discovery or apprehension of such person; or
- (5) **Conceals, alters, or destroys any physical evidence** that might aid in the discovery or apprehension of such person; or
- (6) Provides such person with a weapon.

RCW 9A.76.050 (emphases added).

This Court has described the essential elements consistent with the statute: "a person renders criminal assistance if he or she **(1) knows** that another person (a) 'has committed a crime or juvenile offense' or (b) 'is being sought by law enforcement officials for the commission of a crime or juvenile offense' or (c) 'has escaped from a detention facility' and **(2) intends** 'to prevent, hinder, or delay the apprehension or prosecution' of that other person and **(3) undertakes one of the six specified actions**." *State v. Budik*, 173 Wn. 2d 727, 734, 272 P.3d 816 (2012) (emphases added).5

All three of these elements were missing from the

amended information. The information included only the

name of the crime and the single element elevating the crime

to rendering in the first degree:

Count I Rendering Criminal Assistance in the First Degree [Non-Relative]

On or about or between December 17, 2015 and December 30, 2015, in the County of Kitsap, State of Washington, the above-named Defendant, rendered criminal assistance to a person who had committed or was being sought for any class A felony; contrary to the Revised Code of Washington 9A.76.070(1).

CP 578.6

⁵ An additional element raises the crime to rendering in the first degree: "A person is guilty of rendering criminal assistance in the first degree if he or she renders criminal assistance to a person who has committed or is being sought for murder in the first degree or any class A felony or equivalent juvenile offense." RCW 9A.76.070(1).

⁶ This problem does not appear to be widespread. For example, in another case the defendant was properly charged with rendering as follows:

That the defendant JERRY ALLEN FLUKER in King County, Washington, on or about August 12, 2015, with intent to prevent, hinder or delay the apprehension or prosecution of Marque Deandre Fluker, did render criminal assistance to Marque Deandre Fluker, a person who he knew committed Murder in the Second Degree, a Class A felony, or

Thus, the Court of Appeals properly reversed under RCW 9A.76.050 and *Budik*. Slip Op. at 38-40.

3. <u>The Court of Appeals properly followed this</u> <u>Court's opinion in *Budik*.</u>

The State argues that *Budik* is inapplicable because it evaluated the sufficiency of the evidence to support a conviction, rather than the sufficiency of an information. Petition at 9. The Court of Appeals properly rejected this claim. Slip Op. at 38-40.

Budik applies because this Court determined the essential elements of the crime in order to evaluate whether the State had presented sufficient evidence to support each element. As this Court explained, "In a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence supporting a criminal conviction, the question is whether, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, any rational fact finder could

Assault in the First Degree, a Class A felony, by providing such person with transportation, disguise, or other means of avoiding discovery or apprehension; Contrary to RCW 9A.76.070(1), (2)(a) and 9A.76.050, and against the peace and dignity of the State of Washington.

State v. Fluker, No. 74859-9-I, at CP 92-93.

have found **the essential elements** of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." *Budik*, 173 Wn.2d at 733 (emphasis added; internal citation omitted).

Similarly, "a charging document is constitutionally adequate only if **all essential elements** of a crime, statutory and non-statutory, are included in the document[.]" *State v. Vangerpen*, 125 Wn.2d 782, 787, 888 P.2d 1177, 1180 (1995). Because a determination of the essential elements is required in both circumstances, the State cannot ignore *Budik*'s explication of the essential elements of rendering criminal assistance. This Court already concluded that intent, knowledge, and one of the six specified acts are essential elements of the crime. *Budik*, 173 Wn.2d at 738. The Court of Appeals properly followed this case. Slip Op. at 38-40.

4. <u>The Court of Appeals properly followed this</u> <u>Court's opinions in *Porter* and *Johnson*.</u>

The prosecution alleges the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with *Porter*, 186 Wn.2d at 90 and *State v. Johnson*, 180 Wn.2d 295, 302, 325 P.3d 135 (2014). Petition at 5-8, 10. The State is wrong. Unlike in Mr. Cruz's case, in both *Porter* and *Johnson* the State alleged the *mens rea* elements in the information. Because the information here omitted these elements, the Court of Appeals properly reversed.

In Johnson, the State charged the defendant with unlawful imprisonment. Johnson, 180 Wn.2d at 301. In addition to naming the crime in the information, the State included both the *mens rea* element and the *actus reus* element: it averred the defendant "did knowingly restrain" the victim. *Id.* The defendant argued the State was required to define "restrain" in the information, but this Court disagreed because the information need only contain the essential elements. *Id.* at 301-02. Here, unlike in *Johnson*, the information omitted the essential *mens rea* and *actus reus* elements.

Like the crime at issue here, the crime at issue in *Porter* had two *mens rea* elements. *See Porter*, 186 Wn.2d at 88. Unlike in this case, in *Porter* the State included these elements in the information. The information alleged the defendant "did unlawfully and feloniously **knowingly** possess a stolen motor vehicle, **knowing** that it had been

stolen[]." *Porter*, 186 Wn.2d at 88 (emphases added). This Court held the State was not required to allege the defendant "withheld or appropriated the vehicle for the use of a person other than the true owner," because this description merely defined an element. *Id.* at 87. But this Court did not hold the State may omit the mental state elements, and in fact, the *mens rea* elements were alleged. *See id.* at 87-94.

Because the *mens rea* elements were alleged in *Porter*, this Court distinguished an earlier case in which it had reversed a conviction for failure to allege one of the mentalstate elements of the crime. *Porter*, 186 Wn.2d at 93 (discussing *State v. Moavenzadeh*, 135 Wn.2d 359, 956 P.2d 1097 (1998)). In *Moavenzadeh*, the information contained no language alleging the defendant knew the property was stolen. *Porter*, 186 Wn.2d at 93 (citing *Moavenzadeh*, 135 Wn.2d at 363). Reversal was therefore required in that case, because all essential elements must be in the information. *Moavenzadeh*, 135 Wn.2d at 363-64. The Court of Appeals properly recognized that reversal was required in this case for the same reason. Slip Op. at 41-42 & n.13.

5. <u>The Court of Appeals properly applied the</u> <u>statute</u>.

The State's argument is not only contrary to this Court's case law, it also reflects a misunderstanding of the structure of criminal statutes. The State argues that because Mr. Cruz was charged with rendering criminal assistance in the first degree, the information need only name the crime ("rendered criminal assistance") and reveal the single element that increases the degree of the crime. Petition at 5. The State is wrong.

The "definitional" statute discloses the essential elements of the base crime, and these elements must be alleged in addition to any element that increases the degree of a crime. RCW 9A.76.050. These are essential elements because they are "necessary to establish the very illegality of the behavior[.]" *State v. Zillyette*, 178 Wn.2d 153, 158, 307 P.3d 712 (2013).

For example, like the rendering statute, the robbery "definitional" statute contains the essential elements of the crime of robbery:

9A.56.190. Robbery--Definition

A person commits robbery when he or she unlawfully takes personal property from the person of another or in his or her presence against his or her will by the use or threatened use of immediate force, violence, or fear of injury to that person or his or her property or the person or property of anyone. Such force or fear must be used to obtain or retain possession of the property, or to prevent or overcome resistance to the taking; in either of which cases the degree of force is immaterial. Such taking constitutes robbery whenever it appears that, although the taking was fully completed without the knowledge of the person from whom taken, such knowledge was prevented by the use of force or fear.

The subsequent statutes simply specify which *additional* elements distinguish the various degrees of the crime. For instance, a person could commit first-degree robbery by committing all of the elements of the base crime plus inflicting bodily injury. RCW 9A.56.200. If a person commits only the elements of the base crime, he is guilty of robbery in the second degree: "A person is guilty of robbery in the second degree if he or she commits robbery." RCW 9A.56.210(1).

By the State's logic here, the government could charge a person with second-degree robbery by alleging simply that

the person "did commit robbery." And it could charge firstdegree robbery by alleging merely that a person "did commit robbery and inflicted bodily injury." That is not the law. The "Definition" statute contains the elements of the crime, and these essential elements must be included in the information.

For example, in *Witherspoon* the Court of Appeals held the information included the essential elements of seconddegree robbery where the charging document stated:

> On or about the 12th day of November, 2009, in the County of Clallam, State of Washington, the above-named Defendant, with intent to commit theft thereof, did unlawfully take personal property that the Defendant did not own from the person of another, to-wit: B. Pittario, or in said person's presence against said person's will by the use or threatened use of immediate force, violence, or fear of injury to said person or the property of said person or the person or property of another; contrary to Revised Code of Washington 9A.56.210(1) and 9A.56.190, a Class B felony.

State v. Witherspoon, 171 Wn. App. 271, 294–95, 286 P.3d 996 (2012), *aff'd*, 180 Wn. 2d 875, 329 P.3d 888 (2014). In concluding the information contained the essential elements

of the crime, the court cited the "definition" statute, RCW 9A.56.190. *Id.* at 295.

Like the "definition" statute for robbery, the "definition" statute for rendering criminal assistance sets forth the essential elements of the crime. RCW 9A.76.050. The subsequent statutes set forth additional elements that distinguish degrees of the crime. *E.g.* RCW 9A.76.070. All essential elements, not just the element establishing the degree of the crime, must be alleged in the information. Because the information here omitted several elements, it is constitutionally deficient, and the Court of Appeals properly reversed. CP 578; Slip Op. at 35.

Since the State believes the information included the elements of the crime, even if "vague," it moves on to the second prong of the *Kjorsvik* test and argues there is no prejudice in light of the probable cause statement. Petition at 10-13. But the Court does not reach the prejudice prong here. Multiple elements are missing from the information and do not appear by any fair construction. That "end[s] the inquiry." *State v. Brown*, 169 Wn.2d 195, 198, 234 P.3d 212

(2010); accord McCarty, 140 Wn.2d at 425-28. Slip Op. at 37, 43.

The Court of Appeals properly applied the statute and followed this Court's settled case law in reversing and remanding for dismissal without prejudice where the prosecutor omitted three essential elements of the crime from the information. This Court should deny review.

E. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

This Court should deny the petition for review because the Court of Appeals applied settled law and there is no conflict.

Respectfully submitted this 17th day of December, 2018.

Lila J. Silo

Lila J. Silverstein – WSBA 38394 Washington Appellate Project Attorney for Arnold Cruz